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I. INTRODUCTION  

The instant motion to dismiss the Indictment is broad in scope, beginning with reasons 

why the Indictment is insufficient on its face, and ending with seeking a far reaching change, and 

an end to, the Supreme Court constitutional interpretation of the Commerce Clause, which since 

1831 – a time when slavery was constitutionally protected - has been the legal justification for 

Congress asserting power over the Mohawk, and other Indian Nations, as “domestic dependent 

nations.”  

Defendant, James Gray,  (“Defendant Gray”), Defendant, William Roger Jock, 

(“Defendant Jock”), and Defendant, Thomas Angus Square, (“Defendant Square”), were indicted 

on December 12, 2012 under the 2 Count Indictment in this case which alleges violation of 18 

U.S.C. 1955 & 2 (Operation of Illegal Gambling Business), and violation of 15 U.S.C. 1175(a) & 

1176, 18 U.S.C. § 2 (Transportation, Possession, and Use of Gambling Devices Within Indian 

Country) (doc. #1) 
1
 

Sakoieta, a/k/a Defendant Gray, is the Turtle Clan representative to the Men’s Council of 

the Great Law Longhouse, (hereinafter “the Longhouse”). Kanerahtiio, a/k/a Defendant Jock, is 

the Bear Clan representative to the Longhouse. Rorahkewesare, a/k/a Defendant Square, is the 

Wolf Clan representative to the Longhouse. (collectively, hereinafter referred to as the “Men’s 

Council Defendants”)  

The Longhouse is a traditional governmental entity of the Mohawk People, composed of 

representatives of three Mohawk clans, (Wolf, Bear, and Turtle), appointed by their respective 

clan mothers. The Men’s Council Defendants dwell with their traditional indigenous people 

known as the Kanienkehaka Nation, (commonly referred to as “Mohawk”), within their 

indigenous territory known as Akwesasne, which spans the border between the United States and 

                                                 
1
 The Indictment is annexed hereto as Exhibit 1. 
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Canada. (hereinafter, “the Nation”). The Great Law, given by Deganawida to the Haudenosaunee 

people of the Iroquois Confederacy, forms the basis for governance of the Haudenosaunee. The 

Great Law is an oral tradition, democratic constitution, based law, recorded in wampum belts. 

The Great Law has been in effect since time immemorial.
2
 

The Men’s Council Defendants respectfully request the Court to dismiss the Indictment 

against them for the following reasons:  

A. Count 1 of the Indictment is insufficient for lack of any factual allegation of a 

physical address or location of gambling. 

 

B. Count 1 of the Indictment is insufficient for lack of any factual allegation 

constituting a “gambling device,” a predicate under New York law. 

 

C. Count 1 and Count 2 of the Indictment are insufficient for lack of jurisdiction 

and applicability of the New York State predicate or the federal gambling 

laws under Article II of the Treaty of Canandaigua. 

 

D. Count 2 of the Indictment is insufficient for lack of any factual allegation 

constituting Indian country. 

 

E. Counts 1 and 2 of the Indictment are insufficient because the alleged crimes 

are not listed in 18 U.S.C. §§ 1151, 1152, and 1153 relating to offenses by 

Indians. 

                                                 
2
 One translation by Gerald Murphy of The Great Law is annexed hereto as Exhibit 2. In the Murphy translation, 

Article 6 of The Great Law appoints the Mohawk the head and leaders of the Iroquois Confederacy, requires 

Mohawk attendance at Council for the Council to be legal, and grants the Mohawk veto power at Council. The Great 

Law was drawn upon for underlying principles of written constitutional democracy for the United States. See. e.g., 

H. Con. Res. 331, October 21, 1988. See also, 1491: New Revelations of the Americas Before Columbus, Charles C. 

Mann (Alfred A. Knopf, 2005). The Great Law may be considered a touchstone of pure democracy. E.g. The Great 

Law requires consensus and places ultimate power of governance in the hands of the people. Haudenosaunee people 

have a right to depose leaders (Articles 19, 25, 39, 59), a right to referendum (Article 93), and a right to stop actions 

of the leadership (Articles 96, 98).  

    The Two Row Wampum Treaty of 1613 is an international agreement between representatives of the 

Haudenosaunee and the Dutch government. Many agreements were established by the Kaswentha, or the Two Row 

Wampum, between the Haudenosaunee and other original nations of what is known as Turtle Island to the 

Haudenosaunee, before arrival of foreign people from distant lands. The Two Row Wampum also has been in use 

since time immemorial. This formed the basis for all subsequent agreements or treaties by the Haudenosaunee. The 

Two Row Wampum, composed of two rows of purple beads against a background of white beads - the two purple 

stripes signifying a Haudenosaunee canoe and a European vessel, the three white stripes signifying peace and 

friendship - traveling together down the river of life, parallel but never intersecting, records the agreement of 

separation and peaceful coexistence between the parties. See gen., “An Analysis of the 1613 Tawagonshi Treaty,” 

Robert W. Venables, September 2012, www.onandaganation.org/aboutus/history_two_row_wampum.html.  See 

also, www. n.wikipedia.org/wiki/Two_Row_Wampum_Treatye 
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F. Counts 1 and 2 of the Indictment are barred by the dispute resolution 

mechanism provided in Article VII of the Treaty of Canandaigua. 

 

G. Counts 1 and 2 of the Indictment are barred by the Doctrine of Sovereign 

Immunity. 

 

H. Counts 1 and 2 of the Indictment exceed Congress’ power under the 

Commerce Clause. 

 

II. LAW 

A. International Backdrop. 

 

The Men’s Council Defendants’ spiritual and other duties and activities are, in part, 

directed at helping their people heal and overcome the personal and spiritual difficulties which 

have and continue to afflict them due to being victimized on their aborigine homeland over the 

last 400 years.
3
 For example, after the U.S. Indian Wars ended and Indian matters were 

transferred from the War Department to the Department of Interior, U.S. Indian Policy
4
 involved 

an admitted, and well documented, systematic state sponsored elimination of Indians as a group 

through forced removal and “assimilation” of Indian children across the United States.
5
 Indian 

children between the ages of 5 and 18,
6
 were removed from their families on reservations across 

the United States, and sent to on and off-reservation “boarding” and “day” schools,
7
 with a 

mandated curriculum where Native language,
8
 spiritual practices,

9
 diet,

10
 and dress,

11
 were 

                                                 
3
 See e.g., the 2009 Congressional acknowledgement and apology found in Apology to Native Peoples of the United 

States, 123 Stat. 3453, annexed hereto as Exhibit 3. 
4
 See, e.g., “Rules for Indian Schools, with Course of Study, List of Text-Books, and Civil Service Rules,” Office of 

Indian Affairs, Washington: Government Printing Office, 1892, annexed hereto as Exhibit 4. 
5
 Rule 1, Id. 

6
 Rule 21, Id. 

7
 Rule 22, Id. 

8
 Rule 93, Id. 

9
 Rule 90, Id. 

10
 Rule 108, Id. 

11
 Rule 109, Id. 
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forbidden. Authorized enforcement against the children was by corporal punishment,
12

 

imprisonment,
13

 and being sent to non-Indian “reform schools.”
14

 The children were permitted 

only to have Indian visitors who were assimilated.
15

 The removal of Indian children from their 

families was coerced by authorized withholding of money to the family, which presented parents 

with a choice of releasing their children or destituting the family.
16

 In the event of a family’s 

refusal or opposition to removal of children, the Indian Office was authorized to determine 

further punishment, penalties, or other action, at its discretion.
17

 Once in a school, children could 

not be freely removed by their parents.
18

 This policy of forced assimilation also included Indian 

day schools.
19

  

The U.S. implementation of this policy, and the Indian resistance and suffering, is well 

documented. For example, in the same year as the rules cited, 1892, the Lakota (a/k/a “Sioux”) 

are documented by the United States to have resisted the forced assimilation and of their children 

being removed from their families: 

The work of the past can not be said to have been successful, and even at 

best civilization is slow. Surely what required twenty centuries to do is 

slow, compared with what our people and Government wish to do in little 

more than one century.
20

 

… 

It seems desirable that Indian children taken from their homes to the 

distant institutions should remain there for a series of years without return 

to their parents.
21

 

 

 

                                                 
12

 Rule 115, Id. 
13

 Rule 116, Id. 
14

 Rule 118, Id. 
15

 Rule 15, Id. 
16

 Rule 23, Id. 
17

 Rule 18, Id. 
18

 Rule 28, Id. 
19

 Rule 2, Id. 
20

 “Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 1892,” p. 431, Office of Indian Affairs, Washington: 

Government Printing Office, 1892, excerpt annexed hereto as Exhibit 5. 
21

 Id, p. 615, excerpt annexed hereto as Exhibit 6. 
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 In the East, in the same year, 1892, the Indian Agent for Indians within the State of New 

York was more optimistic about eradication of the spiritual customs,
22

 and education
23

 of 

Mohawk aborigines: 

 

 

 …

 

Since 1948, forced removal of children from a group, such as this, documented by the 

U.S. Interior Department for generations, constitutes an international criminal act of genocide.
 24

 

                                                 
22

  Id, p. 343 excerpt annexed hereto as Exhibit 7. 
23

 Id, p. 344. 
24

 The U.S. 1892 Rules for Indian Schools documents and meets the definition of the international crime of 

genocide, which includes the act of forced removal of children from a group. See, Art. II(e) of the 1948 U.N. 

Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide (“CPPCG”). U.N.T.S. No. 1021, annexed 

hereto as Exhibit 8.  

 

Article I, provides: 

 

The Contracting Parties confirm that genocide, whether committed in time of peace or in time of war, is a 

crime under international law which they undertake to prevent and punish. 

 

Article II, provides: 

 

In the present Convention, genocide means any of the following acts committed with intent to destroy, in 

whole or in part, a national, ethnical, racial or religious group, such as: 

 

(a)  Killing members of the group;  

(b) Causing serious bodily or mental harm to members of the group;  

(c) Deliberately inflicting on the groups conditions of life, calculated to bring about its physical 

destruction in whole or in part;  

(d) Imposing measures intended to prevent births within the group;  

(e) Forcibly transferring children of the group to another group. 

 

Article III, provides: 

 

 The following acts shall be punishable: 

 

(a) Genocide; 

(b) Conspiracy to commit genocide; 
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To date, the U.S. has failed to enact any domestic laws prohibiting genocide as required by this 

Convention. In 2009, the Jewish Museum Vienna, Palais Eskeles, at 1010 Vienna, 

Dorotheergasse 11, Austria, (www.jmw.at), had one room devoted to photographs and objects 

documenting the Indian experience in the U.S., in comparison with the Jewish Holocaust 

experience in Europe. 

The Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, adopted by the United Nations 

General Assembly on September 13, 2007, (“the Declaration”),
25

 provides an international law 

backdrop to obligations of the United States towards aborigines, such as the Men’s Council 

Defendants, including but not limited to, honoring treaties and protecting aborigine self-

determination, economic development, and spiritual practices.
26

  

The Declaration provides, in most pertinent part: 

 

Article 1. Indigenous peoples have the right to the full enjoyment, as a 

collective or as individuals, of all human rights and fundamental freedoms 

as recognized in the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal 

Declaration of Human Rights and international human rights law. 

 

Article 3. Indigenous peoples have the right to self-determination. By 

virtue of that right they freely determine their political status and freely 

pursue their economic, social and cultural development. 

 

Article 4.  Indigenous peoples, in exercising their right to self-

determination, have the right to autonomy or self-government in matters 

relating to their internal and local affairs, as well as ways and means for 

financing their autonomous functions. 

 

                                                                                                                                                             
(c) Direct and public incitement to commit genocide; 

(d) Attempt to commit genocide; 

(e) Complicity in genocide. 

 
25

 See, United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, annexed hereto as Exhibit 9. The 

Declaration is not a treaty, and requires voluntary implementation and compliance by U.N. member states, overseen 

by the U.N. Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights. 
26

 At adoption in 2007, the U.S. was one of only four countries to originally vote against the Declaration, along with 

Australia, Canada, and New Zealand, all former colonies of Great Britain with large aborigine populations. The U.S. 

later changed its position, and the U.S. Department of State publically announced support of the Declaration on 

December 16, 2010. 
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Article 12(1). Indigenous peoples have the right to manifest, practice, 

develop and teach their spiritual and religious traditions, customs and 

ceremonies; the right to maintain, protect, and have access in privacy to 

their religious and cultural sites; the right to use and control of the 

ceremonial objects; and the right to the repatriation of their human 

remains. 

 

Article 20. 

Indigenous peoples have the right to maintain and develop their political, 

economic and social systems or institutions, to be secure in the enjoyment 

of their own means of subsistence and development, and to engage freely 

in all their traditional and other economic activities. 

  

  Article 37.   

Indigenous peoples have the right to the recognition, observance and 

enforcement of treaties, agreements and other constructive arrangements 

concluded with States or their successors and to have States honour and 

respect such treaties, agreements and other constructive arrangements. 

 

Nothing in this Declaration may be interpreted as diminishing or 

eliminating the rights of indigenous peoples contained in treaties, 

agreements and other constructive arrangements 

 

Article 40. 

 Indigenous peoples have the right to access to and prompt decision 

through just and fair procedures for the resolution of conflicts and disputes 

with States or other parties, as well as to effective remedies for all 

infringements of their individual and collective rights. Such a decision 

shall give due consideration to the customs, traditions, rules and legal 

systems of the indigenous peoples concerned and international human 

rights. 

 

Following the Declaration in 2007, Congress in 2009 passed Apology to Native Peoples 

of the United States, 123 Stat. 3453, which provides in most pertinent part: 

Sec. 8113(a). ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND APOLOGY. --The United 

States, acting through Congress— 

 

(1) Recognizes the special legal and political relationship Indian tribes 

have with the United States and the solemn covenant with the land we 

share; 

(2) Commends and honors Native Peoples for the thousands of years that 

they have stewarded and protected this land;  
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(3) Recognizes that there have been years of official depredations, ill-

conceived policies, and the breaking of covenants by the Federal 

Government regarding Indian tribes; 

 

(4) apologizes on behalf of the people of the United States to all Native 

Peoples for the many instances of violence, maltreatment, and neglect 

inflicted on Native Peoples by citizens of the United States; 

 

(5) expresses its regret for the ramifications of former wrongs and its 

commitment to build on the positive relationships of the past and 

present to move toward a brighter future where all the people of this 

land live reconciled as brothers and sisters, and harmoniously steward 

and protect this land together; 

 

B. Treaty of Canandaigua 

The Mohawk, as one of the Six Nations, and the United States of America, are parties to 

the Treaty with the Six Nations, 1794, 7 Stat. 44,
27

 (“the Treaty of Canandaigua” or “the 

Treaty”). Article II provides a right of free use and enjoyment of territory. Article VII provides a 

dispute resolution mechanism right. 

Article II of the Treaty provides: 

ARTICLE II. 

The United States acknowledge the lands reserved to the Oneida, 

Onondaga and Cayuga Nations, in their respective treaties with the 

state of New-York, and called their reservations, to be their property; 

and the United States will never claim the same, nor disturb them or 

either of the Six Nations, nor their Indian friends residing thereon 

and united with them, in the free use and enjoyment thereof: but the 

said reservations shall remain theirs, until they choose to sell the same 

to the people of the United States, who have the right to purchase. 

 

Article VII of the Treaty provides: 

ARTICLE VII. 

Lest the firm peace and friendship now established should be 

interrupted 

by the misconduct of individuals, the United States and Six 

Nations agree, that for injuries done by individuals on either side, no 

private revenge or retaliation shall take place; but, instead thereof, 

complaint shall be made by the party injured, to the other: By the Six 

                                                 
27

 The Treaty of Canandaigua is annexed hereto as Exhibit 10. 
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Nations or any of them, to the President of the United States, or the 

Superintendent by him appointed: and by the Superintendent, or other 

person appointed by the President, to the principal chiefs of the Six 

Nations, or of the nation to which the offender belongs: and such 

prudent measures shall then be pursued as shall he necessary to 

preserve our peace and friendship unbroken; until the legislature (or 

great council) of the United States shall make other equitable provision 

for the purpose. 

 

NOTE. It is clearly understood by the parties to this treaty, that the 

annuity stipulated in the sixth article, is to be applied to the benefit of 

such of the Six Nations and of their Indian friends united with them 

as aforesaid, as do or shall reside within the boundaries of the United 

States: For the United States do not interfere with nations, tribes or 

families, of Indians elsewhere resident. 
 

C. Commerce Clause 

The Commerce Clause, often referred to as the “Indian Commerce Clause” when applied 

to Indians, Art. I, Sec. 8, Cl. 3, of the Constitution of the United States, provides in pertinent 

part: 

The Congress shall have the Power … To regulate Commerce with foreign 

Nations, and among the States, and with the Indian Tribes;  

 

D. 18 U.S.C. 2 

18 U.S.C. 2 provides: 

(a) Whoever commits an offense against the United States or aids, abets, 

counsels, commands, induces or procures its commission, is 

punishable as a principal. 

 

(b) Whoever willfully causes an act to be done which if directly 

performed by him or another would be an offense against the United 

States, is punishable as a principal. 

 

E. 18 U.S.C. 1955 

18 U.S.C. 1955(a) provides: 

 

Whoever conducts, finances, manages, supervises, directs, or owns all or 

part of an illegal gambling business shall be fined under this title or 

imprisoned not more than five years, or both. 
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18 U.S.C. 1955(b) provides: 

 

(1) “illegal gambling business” means a gambling business which— 

 

i. Is a violation of the law of a State or political 

subdivision in which it is conducted; 

 

ii. Involves five or more persons who conduct, finance, 

manage, supervise, direct, or own all or part of such 

business; and 

 

iii. Has been or remains in substantially continuous 

operation for a period in excess of thirty days or has a 

gross revenue of $2000 in any single day. 

 

(2) “gambling” includes but is not limited to pool-selling, bookmaking, 

maintaining slot machines, roulette wheels or dice tables, and 

conducting lotteries, policy, bolita or numbers games, or selling 

chances therein. 

 

(3) “State” means any State of the United States, the District of Columbia, 

the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, and any territory or possession of 

the United States. 

 

F. 15 U.S.C. 1175(a) 

15 U.S.C. 1175(a) provides: 

(a) General rule 

It shall be unlawful to manufacture, recondition, repair, sell, transport, 

possess, or use any gambling device in the District of Columbia, in any 

possession of the United States, within Indian country as defined in 

section 1151 of Title 18 or within the special maritime and territorial 

jurisdiction of the United States as defined in section 7 of Title 18, 

including on a vessel documented under chapter 121 of Title 46 or 

documented under the laws of a foreign country. 

 

G. 15 U.S.C. 1176 

15 U.S.C. 1176 provides: 

Whoever violates any of the provisions of sections 1172, 1173, 1174, or 

1175 of this title shall be fined not more than $5,000 or imprisoned not 

more than two years, or both. 
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H. 18 U.S.C. 1151  

18 U.S.C. 1151 provides: 

Except as otherwise provided in sections 1154 and 1156 of this title, the 

term “Indian country”, as used in this chapter, means (a) all lands within 

the limits of any Indian reservation under the jurisdiction of the United 

States Government, notwithstanding the issuance of any patent, and, 

including rights-of-way running through the reservation, (b) all dependent 

Indian communities within the borders of the United States whether within 

the original or subsequently acquired territory thereof, and whether within 

or without the limits of a state, and (c) all Indian allotments, the Indian 

titles to which have not been extinguished, including rights-of-way 

running through the same. 

 

I. 18 U.S.C. § 1152 

18 U.S.C. § 1152 provides: 

Except as otherwise expressly provided by law, the general laws of the 

United States as to the punishment of offenses committed in any place 

within the sole and exclusive jurisdiction of the United States, except the 

District of Columbia, shall extend to the Indian country. 

 

This section shall not extend to offenses committed by one Indian against 

the person or property of another Indian, nor to any Indian committing any 

offense in the Indian country who has been punished by the local law of 

the tribe, or to any case where, by treaty stipulations, the exclusive 

jurisdiction over such offenses is or may be secured to the Indian tribes 

respectively. 

 

J. 18 U.S.C. § 1153 

18 U.S.C. § 1153 provides: 

(a) Any Indian who commits against the person or property of another 

Indian or other person any of the following offenses, namely, murder, 

manslaughter, kidnapping, maiming, a felony under chapter 109A, incest, 

assault with intent to commit murder, assault with a dangerous weapon, 

assault resulting in serious bodily injury (as defined in section 1365 of this 

title), an assault against an individual who has not attained the age of 16 

years, felony child abuse or neglect, arson, burglary, robbery, and a felony 

under section 661 of this title within the Indian country, shall be subject to 

the same law and penalties as all other persons committing any of the 

above offenses, within the exclusive jurisdiction of the United States. 
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(b) Any offense referred to in subsection (a) of this section that is not 

defined and punished by Federal law in force within the exclusive 

jurisdiction of the United States shall be defined and punished in 

accordance with the laws of the State in which such offense was 

committed as are in force at the time of such offense. 

 

K. New York Penal Law § 225.00(7) 

New York Penal Law § 225.00(7) provides: 

“Gambling device” means any device, machine, paraphernalia or 

equipment which is used or usable in the playing phases of any gambling 

activity, whether such activity consists of gambling between persons or 

gambling by a person involving the playing of a machine. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, lottery tickets, policy slips and other items 

used in the playing phases of lottery and policy schemes are not gambling 

devices. 

 

L. New York Penal Law § 225.05 

New York Penal Law § 225.05 provides: 

A person is guilty of promoting gambling in the second degree when he 

knowingly advances or profits from unlawful gambling activity. 

   

Promoting gambling in the second degree is a class A misdemeanor. 

 

M. New York Penal Law § 225.30 

New York Penal Law § 225.30 provides: 

(a) A person is guilty of possession of a gambling device when, with 

knowledge of the character thereof he or she manufactures, sells, 

transports, places or possesses, or conducts or negotiates any 

transaction affecting or designed to affect ownership, custody or use 

of: 

1. A slot machine, unless such possession is 

permitted pursuant to article nine-A of the 

general municipal law; or 

 

2. Any other gambling device, believing that the 

same is to be used in the advancement of 

unlawful gambling activity; or 

 

Case 8:12-cr-00569-DNH   Document 32-1   Filed 01/15/13   Page 14 of 26



 
13 

3. A coin operated gambling device with intent to 

use such device in the advancement of unlawful 

gambling activity. 

 

(b) Possession of a slot machine shall not be unlawful where such 

possession and use is pursuant to a gaming compact, duly executed by 

the governor and an Indian tribe or Nation, under the Indian Gaming 

Regulatory Act, as codified at 25 U.S.C. §§§§ 2701-2721 and 18 

U.S.C §§§§ 1166-1168, where the use of such slot machine or 

machines is consistent with such gaming compact and where the state 

receives a negotiated percentage of the net drop (defined as gross 

money wagered after payout, but before expenses) from any such slot 

machine or machines. 

 

(c) Transportation and possession of a slot machine shall not be unlawful 

where such transportation and possession is necessary to facilitate the 

training of persons in the repair and reconditioning of such machines 

as are used or are to be used for operations in those casinos authorized 

pursuant to a tribal-state compact as provided for pursuant to section 

eleven hundred seventy-two of title fifteen of the United States Code 

in the State of New York. 

 

(d) Transportation and possession of a slot machine shall not be unlawful 

where such slot machine was transported into this state in a sealed 

container and possessed for the purpose of product development, 

research, or additional manufacture or assembly, and such slot 

machine will be or has been transported in a sealed container to a 

jurisdiction outside of this state for purposes which are lawful in such 

outside jurisdiction 

 

Possession of a gambling device is a class A misdemeanor. 

 

III. ANALYSIS 

A. Count 1 of the Indictment is insufficient for lack of any factual allegation 

of a physical address or location of gambling. 

 

Count 1 of the Indictment is insufficient in that it fails to allege any facts as to the 

physical location of the place within the Northern District of New York where the alleged crimes 

were committed. Count 1 reads: 

From on or about July 13, 2011, through and including on or about 

September 10, 2012, in the Northern District of New York and elsewhere, 

the defendants, JAMES GRAY, WILLIAM ROGER JOCK, THOMAS 
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ANGUS SQUARE, also known as “Salt,” ANTHONY LAUGHING, SR., 

and JOSEPH HIGHT, aiding and abetting each other and others, did 

knowingly conduct, finance, manage, supervise, direct, and own all or part 

of an illegal gambling business, to wit, a gambling business operating 

inside a casino called “Three Feathers Casino,” which casino contained, 

among other things, gambling devices, as defined in Title 15, United 

States Code, Section 1171(a) and New York State Penal Law Section 

225.00(7), and which gambling business operated in violation of the law 

of the State of New York, specifically New York State Penal Law 

Sections 225.05 (promoting unlawful gambling activity) and 225.30 

(possession of gambling devices); involved five or more persons who 

conducted, financed, managed, supervised, directed, and owned all and 

part of such illegal gambling business; and remained in substantially 

continuous operation for a period in excess of thirty days and had a gross 

revenue of $2,000 or more on one or more single days. All in violation of 

Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1955 and 2. 

 

 Fed.R.Cr.P. 7(c)(1) requires that an “Indictment or information must be a plain, concise, 

and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged and must be 

signed by an attorney for the government.” “Where guilt depends so crucially upon such a 

specific identification of fact, our cases have uniformly held that an indictment must do more 

than simply repeat the language of the criminal statute.” U.S. v. Russell, 369 U.S.749, 764, 82 

S.Ct. 1038, 8 L.Ed.2d 240 (1962) (refusal to answer questions by congressional subcommittee). 

“An indictment not framed to apprise the defendant ‘with reasonable certainty, of the nature of 

the accusation against him … is defective, although it may follow the language of the statute.’” 

Id, at 765. 

 The only fact alleged in Count 1 as to location is a name, “a gambling business operating 

inside a casino called “Three Feathers Casino”. There are no facts alleged as to the physical 

location, such as a street or other address. The lack of an alleged physical location on a map is 

critical in this case. One element of the alleged crime under 18 U.S.C. 1955(b) is (1) “illegal 

gambling business” means a gambling business which – (i) Is a violation of the law of a State or 
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political subdivision in which it is conducted”.  Defense of the criminal statute alleged is fact 

specific as to an alleged physical location. The fact specific physical location, may be located 

inside or outside of the Mohawk territory of Akwesasne, inside or outside of “Indian country” as 

defined by 18 U.S.C. 1151, and/or inside or outside of the surrounding state boundaries of New 

York, all of which may be different from the view of the Government, the State of New York, 

and the Men’s Council Defendants. 

B. Count 1 of the Indictment is insufficient for lack of any factual allegation 

constituting a “gambling device,” a predicate under New York law. 

 

A violation of New York law is a predicate element to support a conviction under Count 

1. See, 18 U.S.C. 1955(b)(1)(i). The predicate offenses alleged under New York law relate to 

“gambling device” violations of New York Penal Law §§ 225.00(7), 225.05, and 225.30. There 

are no facts alleged in Count 1 as to what constitutes the alleged “gambling device.” This is an 

absence of a critical fact because an alleged illegal gambling device is a fact specific element, 

since the statutes are fact specific.  For example, under § 225.00(7) use of a device in a “playing 

phase” is a requirement, and some items, such as lottery tickets are specifically excluded.  Under 

§ 225.30, “slot machines” may or may not be unlawful depending on the circumstances. See § 

225.30(a), (b), (c), and (d). If a device is not prohibited, then there is no illegal gambling activity 

under §225.05. New York State courts are not hesitant to dismiss a gambling indictment for lack 

of allegations of such specific facts. See, People v. Mohammed, 187 Misc.2d 729, 732, 724 

NY.S.2d 803 (NY Crim. Ct. 2001) 

The game of three-card monte, and by inference the shell game, is not a 

game of chance. When played fairly, the game is one of skill where the 

accuracy of the eye of the player competes with the speed of the hand of 

the dealer. It is noted that fans at Yankee Stadium are entertained between 

innings by an electronic version of the shell game projected on the stadium 

scoreboard. The fans attempt to follow the image of a baseball over which 

is superimposed one of three Yankee baseball caps shuffled at increasing 
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speed. Although no prizes are awarded (at least officially), the “winner” 

are those fans who are able to identify the Yankee cap under which the 

image of the ball is concealed. 

 

 Likewise, the game “jahjong,” alleged in an indictment to be a game of chance, has been 

held not to be so, but a game of skill, resulting in dismissal of the indictment. See, People v.  

Hua, 24 Misc.3d 1142, 1146, 885 N.Y.S.2d 380 (Queens Crim. Ct. 2009) 

 In the present case, the Men’s Council Defendants are not on notice as to what allegedly 

constitutes the gambling device for which to defend or to move against. 

C. Count 1 and Count 2 of the Indictment are insufficient for lack of 

jurisdiction and applicability of the New York State predicate or the 

federal gambling laws under Article II of the Treaty of Canandaigua. 

 

The following language contained in Article II of the Treaty of Canandaigua provides a 

jurisdictional and application bar to the state predicate and federal gambling laws asserted 

against the Men’s Council Defendants on Akwesasne: 

and the United States will never claim the same, nor disturb them 

or either of the Six Nations, nor their Indian friends residing 

thereon and united with them, in the free use and enjoyment 

thereof: 

 

Indian treaties are to be interpreted liberally in favor of the Indians, and any ambiguities 

are to be resolved in their favor. Minnesota v. Mille Lacs Band of Chippewa, 526 U.S. 172, 200, 

119 S.Ct. 1187, 143 L.Ed.2 270 (1999). 

D. Count 2 of the Indictment is insufficient for lack of any factual allegation 

constituting Indian country. 

 

Count 2 of the Indictment is insufficient in that it fails to allege any facts as to the 

physical location of the place within the Northern District of New York where the alleged crimes 

were committed, other than a bald allegation of “within Indian country” as defined by 18 U.S.C. 

1151. 
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That the alleged crime occurred within a territorial area defined by 18 U.S.C. 1151 is a 

required element of the alleged crime in Count 2. See, 15 U.S.C. 1175(a). The Indictment fails to 

allege any facts of a specific physical address or location, and the Indictment fails to allege any 

such specific factual physical address or location is within an Indian reservation, a dependent 

Indian community, or an Indian allotment, under 18 U.S.C. 1151(a), (b) or (c). Also, a specific 

location may or may not be within territory that is the subject of a pending land dispute between 

St. Regis and the State of New York. See, Canadian St. Regis Band of Mohawk Indians v. New 

York, No. 5:82–cv–783 (N.D.N.Y. filed July 27, 1982). 

U.S. v. Cook, 922 F.2d 1026 (2
nd 

Cir 1991)(Lasker, J. dissenting), held the St. Regis 

Mohawk Tribe constituted a dependent Indian community relating to a physical location in the 

town of Bombay, Franklin County, New York, and so that location was within Indian country 

under 18 U.S.C. 1151(b). This issue has been squarely addressed by the Second Circuit since 

Cook. In holding that a specific housing site located in Charlestown, Rhode Island, was not a 

dependent Indian community, the question of defining “dependent Indian community” was 

specifically addressed in Narragansett Indian Tribe of Rhode Island v. Narragansett Electric 

Company, 89 F.3d 908, 916-923 (2
nd

 Cir 1996).  

While we have not previously faced the precise issue raised here, in 

United States v. Levesque we addressed whether a region is a dependent 

Indian community for the purposes of criminal jurisdiction, framing our 

focus in terms of whether the land is “both ‘Indian’ in character and 

federally dependent.” See id. at 77. In that case, we applied the factors set 

out by the Tenth Circuit in United States v. Martine, 442 F.2d 1022 (10
th

 

Cir. 1971), namely: the nature of the area in question; the relationship of 

the inhabitants of the area to Indian Tribes and the federal government, 

and the established practice of government agencies toward the area. Id. at 

1023 (drawing factors from the discussion in Sandoval, 231 U.S. at 45-49, 

34 S.Ct. at 5-7). Other cases determining whether an area constitutes a 

dependent Indian community, including Tenth Circuit decisions, have 

relied on additional factors introduced into the case law by the Eighth 

Circuit in United States v. South Dakota, 65 F.2d 837 (8
th

 Cir.1981). See, 
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e.g., Watchman, 52 F.3d at 1545 (adopting the South Dakota additions to 

the Martine list of factors); Batchford v. Sullivan, 904 F.2d 542, 547 (10
th

 

Cir.1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 1035, 111 S.Ct. 699, 112 L.E.2d 689 

(1991); United States v. Azure, 801 F.2d 336, 339 (8
th

 Cir.1986); Housing 

Auth. Of the Seminole Nation v. Harjo, 790 P.2d 1098, 1100 (Okla.1990). 

Following their lead, we shall expand upon our discussion in Levesque to 

incorporate the South Dakota factors. See Martine, 442 F.2d at 1024 

(noting that additional relevant factors may be considered). 

Id., 89 F.3d at 917. 

In the instant case, the traditional Kanienkehaka Men’s Council Defendants do not 

recognize, and do not consider themselves members of the St. Regis Mohawk Tribal 

government. The Men’s Council and the traditional Kanienkehaka, are not given, and accept no, 

money from the United States. Notwithstanding this point, dissenting Judge Lasker in Cook 

disagreed in 1991 that the Government proved the St. Regis Mohawk broadly constituted a 

dependent Indian community, and over 20 years of St. Regis Tribal economic development has 

occurred since. Id, at 1038. In light of Narragansett, without an allegation of facts of a physical 

location and that the location is a dependent Indian community or any other part of the statutory 

definition of “Indian country” in the Northern District, the Indictment fails to allege facts giving 

the Men’s Council Defendants the ability to defend or move against the Indictment under the 

factors in Narragansett. 

E. Counts 1 and 2 of the Indictment are insufficient because the alleged 

crimes are not listed in 18 U.S.C. §§ 1151, 1152, and 1153 relating to 

offenses by Indians. 

  

Even assuming, arguendo, the bald reference to Indian country under 18 U.S.C. 1151 is 

deemed sufficient, federal statutes do not authorize the exercise of federal criminal jurisdiction in 

Indian country against the Men’s Council Defendants under 18 U.S.C. §§ 1151, 1152, and 1153. 
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 18 U.S.C. § 1151 provides a definition of Indian country. 18 U.S.C. § 1152 provides for 

laws governing Indian country. 18 U.S.C. § 1153 provides for offenses committed within Indian 

country.  

 15 U.S.C. 1175(a) does not apply to the Men’s Council Defendants under paragraph 2 of 

18 U.S.C. § 1152, because of several applicable exceptions here: 

This section shall not extend to offenses committed by one Indian against 

the person or property of another Indian, nor to any Indian committing any 

offense in the Indian country who has been punished by the local law of 

the tribe, or to any case where, by treaty stipulations, the exclusive 

jurisdiction over such offenses is or may be secured to the Indian tribes 

respectively. 

 

 The first applicable exception is that, “This section shall not extend to offenses 

committed by one Indian against the person or property of another Indian”. Thus 15 U.S.C. 

1175(a) does not apply when the alleged conduct, here gambling related conduct, is committed 

by one Indian against the person or property of another Indian. Thus alleged gambling between 

and among Mohawk persons and property in Indian country does not constituted a crime under 

15 U.S.C. 1175(a). 

The second applicable exception is that, “This section shall not extend … to any case 

where, by treaty stipulations, the exclusive jurisdiction over such offenses is or may be secured 

to the Indian tribes respectively. As discussed below, Article 7 of the Treaty of Canandaigua 

secures to the Mohawk a dispute resolution mechanism right with the United States, whereupon, 

upon notice by the President of the United States, the Mohawk resolve disputes with the United 

States internally. 

 Lastly, under 18 U.S.C. § 1153(a), the list of offenses within Indian country authorized as 

prosecutable against Indians excludes gambling related offenses. 
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F. Counts 1 and 2 of the Indictment are barred by the dispute resolution 

mechanism provided in Article VII of the Treaty of Canandaigua. 

 

The dispute resolution provision found in Article VII of the Treaty with the Six Nations, 

1794, 7 Stat. 44, (“Treaty of Canandaigua”), provides a notice requirement: “complaint shall be 

made by the party injured, to the other: By the Six Nations or any of them, to the President of the 

United States, or the Superintendent by him appointed: and by the Superintendent, or other 

person appointed by the President, to the principal chiefs of the Six Nations, or of the nation to 

which the offender belongs” In the present case, the United States violated Article VII by failing 

to follow this notice requirement to resolve the present dispute. 

Following such notice, under the terms of Article VII, the dispute is to be resolved 

internally: “and such prudent measures shall then be pursued as shall be necessary to preserve 

our peace and friendship unbroken”. The traditional custom and practices of the Mohawk were 

not given an opportunity to resolve this dispute. 

G. Counts 1 and 2 of the Indictment are barred by the Doctrine of Sovereign 

Immunity. 

 

The Men’s Council Defendants raise the doctrine of sovereign immunity of the 

Kanienkehaka Nation, which would flow from the dissenting opinion of Justice Thompson 

(joined by Story) in Cherokee Nation, infra, as argued in the next section. 

H. Counts 1 and 2 of the Indictment exceed Congress’ power under the 

Commerce Clause. 

 

This argument seeks an end to the existence of “domestic dependent nation” legal status, 

as exceeding Congressional power. 

The Men’s Council Defendants seek an extension of the law, to Wit: the plain meaning 

and original intent of Art. I, Sec. 8, Cl. 3 of the U.S. Constitution does not grant power to 

Congress to regulate Indian Tribes, which were, and are, sovereign nations. To this end, the 
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Supreme Court should review and overturn the first Indian case to reach that court, The Cherokee 

Nation v. The State of Georgia, 30 U.S. 1, 5 Pet. 1, 8 L.Ed. 25, 1831 WL 3974 (1831)(C.J. 

Marshall),
28

 and adopt the dissenting opinion of Justice Thompson.
29

 

                                                 
28

 In 1831, Cherokee Nation provided an important legal victory for the Government, which gave a critical Supreme 

Court stamp of approval to a “Final Consolidation”  U.S. Indian Policy, coined and articulated by Thomas Jefferson 

in 1803, of U.S. expansion by deceptively eliminating Indians as a race and taking Indian lands by mechanisms of 

debt and force - what today would constitute the international crime of “genocide.” See, Art. II(a) – (c), CPPCG,  

supra. In a letter, excerpt annexed hereto as Exhibit 11, dated February 27, 1803, to William Henry Harrison, then 

Governor of Indiana Territory, President Jefferson wrote: 

 

…. from the Secretary of War you receive from time to time information and instructions as to our Indian 

affairs….  this letter being unofficial and private, I may with safety give you a more extensive view of our 

policy respecting the Indians…. When they withdraw themselves to the culture of a small piece of land, 

they will perceive how useless to them are their extensive forests, and will be willing to pare them off from 

time to time in exchange for necessaries for their farms and families. To promote this disposition to 

exchange lands, which they have to spare and we want, for necessaries, which we have to spare the they 

want, we shall push our trading houses, and be glad to see the good and influential individuals among them 

run in debt, because we observe that when these debts get beyond what the individuals can pay, they 

become willing to lop them off by a cession of lands…. In this way our settlements will gradually 

circumscribe and approach the Indians, and they will in time either incorporate with us as citizens of the 

United States, or remove beyond the Mississippi. The former is certainly the termination of their history 

most happy for themselves; but, in the whole course of this, it is essential to cultivate their love. As to their 

fear, we presume that our strength and their weakness is now so visible that they must see we have only to 

shut our hand to crush them, and that all our liberalities to them proceed from motives of pure humanity 

only. Should any tribe be foolhardy enough to take up the hatchet at any time, the seizing the whole country 

of that tribe, and driving them across the Mississippi, as the only condition of peace, would be an example 

to others, and a furtherance of our final consolidation…. [emphasis added] 

 

Writings of Thomas Jefferson, Ed. Andrew A. Lipscomb, 10:369-71; Reproduced in Documents of United 

States Indian Policy, 2
nd

 Ed., University of Nebraska Press, Ed. Francis Paul Prucha. 

  
29

 Justice Thompson’s detailed 31 page dissenting opinion is joined by Justice Story. See, 30 U.S. at 50-81. Justice 

Thompson wrote, summarizing his dissent: 

 

             Upon the whole, I am of opinion, 

 

1. That the Cherokees compose a foreign state within the sense and meaning of the constitution, and 

constitute a competent party of (sic) maintain a suit against the state of Georgia. 

2. That the bill presents a case for judicial consideration, arising under the laws of the United States, and 

treaties made under their authority with the Cherokee nation, and which laws and treaties have been, and 

are threatened to be still further violated by the laws of the state of Georgia referred to in this opinion. 

3. That an injunction is a fit and proper writ to be issued, to prevent the further execution of such laws, and 

ought therefore to be awarded. 

 

And I am authorized by my brother Story to say, that he concurs with me in this opinion.  

 

Cherokee Nation, 30 U.S. at 81. [emphasis added] 
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 The said actions exceed Congress’ power to regulate commerce “with the Indian Tribes.” 

Art. I, Sec. 8, Cl. 3, (“Commonly known as the “Indian Commerce Clause.”), provides in 

pertinent part: 

The Congress shall have the Power … To regulate Commerce with foreign 

Nations, and among the States, and with the Indian Tribes; [emphasis added] 

 

In Chief Justice Marshall’s uncharacteristically brief five page majority opinion in 

Cherokee Nation, the Supreme Court found it lacked original jurisdiction under Art. III, Sec. 2, 

Cl.1, to hear a motion for a subpoena and injunction by the Cherokee Nation to restrain Georgia 

from executing and enforcing its laws within Cherokee Territory, holding that the Cherokee 

Nation had the status of a “domestic dependent nation” of the United States, and was not a 

“foreign nation.” Cherokee Nation, 30 U.S. at 17. Under Cherokee Nation, the Men’s Council 

Defendants are members of a “domestic dependent nation.” 

Cherokee Nation provided the erroneous jurisdictional underpinning for subsequent 

extension of Congress’ power, pursuant to Art. I, Sec. 8, Cl. 3, to carry out the Final 

Consolidation Indian Policy, and must be reversed.
30

   

In sum, the legal status of the Men’s Council Defendants as members of a “domestic 

dependent nation” of the United States, and the assertion of law in the Indictment violates the 

plain meaning of Art. I, Sec. 8, Cl. 3..31
  

                                                 
30

 By illustration of the United States initial nearly lone vote against the Declaration in 2007, Justice Thompson’s 

dissent in Cherokee Nation in 1831 is destined someday to become the basis for a majority opinion, as sure as lawful 

slavery and segregation by race became eliminated in the U.S. and internationally in the thrust of history. The 

Supreme Court has not had an opportunity to right such a historical wrong to a people since the abrogation of the 

holding that slaves are constitutionally protected property of citizens in Scott v. Sandford, 60 U.S. 393 (1856) after 

the Civil War by the Thirteenth and Fourteenth Amendments, and nearly one hundred years later, the repudiation of 

the “separate but equal” racial doctrine holding in Plessy v. Ferguson, 163 U.S. 537 (1896) by Brown v. Board of 

Education, 347 U.S. 483, 494-495 (1954). 
31

 The Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, 

has identified one factor and difficulty impeding the implementation of the CERD convention as to the United States 

being  “the persistence of the discriminatory effects of the legacy of slavery, segregation, and destructive policies 

with regard to Native Americans” [emphasis added] (para. 384), and issued concerns and recommendations, inter 

alia,  “that treaties signed by the Government and Indian tribes, described as ‘domestic dependent nation’ under 
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IV. CONCLUSION 

The Men’s Council Defendants of the Kanienkehaka Nation assert various federal laws 

and the Treaty of Canandaigua to seek dismissal of the Indictment against them, on nine 

enumerated grounds. These grounds relate to the lack of factual allegations in the bare 2 Count 

Indictment, and lack of jurisdiction and applicability of state and federal gambling laws against 

them on Akwesasne. Lastly, the Men’s Council Defendants seek an extension of the 

constitutional interpretation of the Commerce Clause to adopt the lengthy and articulate 

dissenting opinion of Justice Thompson (joined by Story) in the slavery era 1831 case, Cherokee 

Nation, supra, which would eliminate the status of the Men’s Council Defendants as being 

members of a “domestic dependent nation,” which it is submitted violates the plain language of 

the Commerce Clause, and violates their human rights as aborigines in the view of the United 

Nations Human Rights Commission.  

V. RELIEF REQUESTED 

FOR THE FOREGOING REASONS, the Men’s Council Defendants respectfully request 

the Court to dismiss the Indictment against them. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                                                                                             
national law, can be unilaterally terminated by Congress and the land they possess or use can be taken without 

compensation by a decision by the Government.” (para. 400)  (A/56/18, adopted on 13 August 2001), annexed 

hereto as Exhibit 12. A failure of the United States to respond triggered further U.N. action. (Early Warning and 

Urgent Action Procedure, Decision 1(68), adopted on 8 March 2006) The United States failed a second time to 

respond. (U.N. High Commissioner for Human Rights letter to United States, 18 August 2006 and 9 March 2007)  
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Dated: New York, New York  
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